In the

SUPREME COURT

of the

STATE OF CALIFORNIA



KENNEDY DONOHUE, Plaintiff and Appellant,

FILED

AUG 1 - 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

v.

AMN SERVICES, LLC, Defendant and Respondent.

Deputy

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO. D071865 SAN DIEGO SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. 37-2014-00012605-CU-OE-CTL HONORABLE JOEL PRESSMAN (Ret.)

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT KENNEDY DONOHUE'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WILLIAM B. SULLIVAN (171637)
ERIC K. YAECKEL (274608)
SULLIVAN LAW GROUP, APC
2330 Third Avenue
San Diego, California 92101
(619) 702-6760 Telephone
helen@sullivanlawgroupapc.com
yaeckel@sullivanlawgroupapc.com

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court granted review on the following issues:

- 1. Can employers use rounding practices, upheld **only** in the overtime context, to shorten or delay meal periods despite the clear statutory mandate that employees are to be provided a meal period of "not less than 30 minutes" that starts "no later than the end of an employee's fifth hour of work?"
 - a. Is there a distinction between (i) overtime statutes protecting employees' fiscal interest by ensuring fair compensation for a full eight-or-more-hour workday, and (ii) meal period laws ensuring employees' health and well-being with 30-minute meal periods every five hours to let them rest and recharge?
 - b. Can the fact that rounding may, in the long run, pay employees for the time they were actually on break nullify the denial of a timely or full meal period, which also affords employees the statutory right to an extra one hour of pay?
- 2. Does *Donohue* conflict with other California cases adopting the framework that non-compliant time records create a rebuttable presumption of meal period violations?

- a. Is *Donohue* correct that this presumption applies only at the class certification stage?
- b. Does this Court's depublication of cases declining
 to adopt, limiting the application of, or ignoring the
 "rebuttable presumption" make this issue ripe for review?

II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

California law requires employers like defendant-respondent AMN Services, LLC (AMN) to provide employees a meal period not less than 30 minutes no later than the end of the fifth hour of work. Employers must also provide specified, minimum rest periods. The settled purpose of these meal and rest period protections is to lessen the strain on employee health and safety due to long stretches of physical or mental exertion with no rest. AMN violated the meal period guarantees by importing a timekeeping system from the overtime arena that rounds employees' punch times to the nearest ten-minute increment, including the start and end of their shifts and their meal periods. Over the five-year class period, this led to nearly 40,110 short meal periods of less than 30 minutes and 6,651 delayed meal periods starting later than the end of the fifth hour of work. Through incremental encroachments, plaintiff-appellant Kennedy

Donohue (Donohue) and the 500-plus employee class thereby lost their basic health and safety guarantee to full, timely meal periods.

None of the grounds the Court of Appeal adopted at AMN's urging justify this result. First, unlike meal period laws, overtime rules protect employees' fundamentally different right to fair pay for an eight-plus hour workday. Assertedly "neutral" rounding practices previously allowed in the overtime arena, where only money is at stake, make no sense in the meal period context, where permanent, incalculable harm to employees' health and safety is at issue. Second, employees do not benefit in the long run because their time is sometimes rounded up and sometimes rounded down. The irreversible harm to an employee's welfare from a short or delayed meal period one day is not restored by a timely and full meal period another day; rather, the cumulative negative health impact of periodic non-compliant meal periods only magnifies over time. Also, the statutory penalty of one hour's pay for each non-compliant meal period is worth far more than occasional pay for a few extra minutes while the employee was on a meal break. Finally, efficiency does not justify outdated rounding practices because existing technology, including AMN's system, records punch times to the exact minute.

By erroneously affirming adjudication of the valid meal period claim against the class, the Court of Appeal also mistakenly denied plaintiff the benefit of a rebuttable presumption against AMN arising from its duty to keep accurate time records. In her concurrence in a seminal employment case, Justice Werdegar proposed that evidence of Labor Code violations in an employer's time records should give rise to a rebuttable presumption that the violations did occur. (Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum) (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1053 [Werdegar, J., conc.] (Brinker).) Courts began to adopt this time-record presumption as a way for employees to establish prima facie meal period or other violations, shifting the burden of rebuttal to employers. Though many courts allowed the presumption at the class certification stage, the case's procedural posture was not their reason for doing so. Nor is the presumption as proposed in Brinker tied to any stage of a case. But, like a minority of other courts, the Court in Donohue refused to apply the presumption at summary judgment. This ignored both that an employer's duty to keep accurate records is the same regardless of whether the inquiry is class certification or merits-based, and that the presumption's rebuttable nature allows employers a viable defense at *every* stage.

Because obsolete rounding practices and an artificially limited time-record presumption will harm countless employees across this State besides Donohue and the class, this Court should restore meal period guarantees and clarify the presumption's uniform application.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Parties

Defendant-Respondent AMN is a health care and staffing company whose employees recruit nurses for temporary contract assignments. (8 AA 2194, ¶2.) Plaintiff-Appellant Donohue worked as a non-exempt nurse recruiter at AMN for less than two years between 2012 and 2014. (*Ibid.*) Donohue and other non-exempt recruiters did not have pre-determined shifts but were expected to work eight-hour days. (8 AA 2195, ¶5.) AMN had to provide such non-exempt employees meal and rest breaks under California law, and had a written policy allowing as much. (1 AA 232, ¶3; 235–238.) In practice, however, AMN, a sales-driven company, had an office culture that created pressure on recruiters like Donohue to be on the phones and work as much as possible instead of taking their full meal periods and rest breaks. (2 AA 330–342; 530–532, ¶9–17.)

B. AMN's "Team Time" Timekeeping System

During the relevant time, AMN designed, created, and employed an electronic timekeeping system called "Team Time." (8 AA 2206, ¶3; 9 AA Vol. 2333–2334, 2344–2347, 2357.) Donohue and all non-exempt employees clocked in and out of Team Time by clicking an icon on their computers to record the hours they worked

daily, including the start and end of their meal periods. (9 AA 2350–2351.) This meant four punches on average—on arrival, at departure, to start a meal period, and at the end of lunch. (8 AA 2071.)

To calculate employees' work time, compliant breaks, and compensation, Team Time rounded the actual punch times up or down to the nearest ten-minute increment. (8 AA 2207, ¶5; 9 AA 2337-2339.) For example, as relevant to the meal period claim, if an employee started a meal period at 12:04 and ended it at 12:26 p.m., Team Time would initially record each entry to the precise minute as the actual time. (9 AA 2324; 2368-2372; 2403, ¶6.) But, to calculate time worked, time on break, and pay, Team Time would round the "clock in" and "clock out" time to the nearest ten-minute increment and show the alteration as the employee's time, meaning 12:04 would be shown rounded to 12:00 p.m., and 12:26 to 12:30 p.m. (9 AA 2337-2339.) Team Time thus could and did record employees' actual punch in and punch out times, but took the extra step of redacting and overriding these actual times on the time records with employees' rounded times. (2 AA 345, ¶6; 9 AA 2338-2339, 2341.)

C. Short and Delayed Meal Periods at AMN

Over five years, this time rounding resulted in thousands of both "short" meal periods that lasted *less* than the full 30 minutes

and "delayed" meal periods that began *after*, and not *at*, the end of the fifth hour of work. (9 AA 2403–2408.)

A short meal period means an instance when the employee's actual time punches showed that the meal period lasted less than 30 minutes, but AMN's rounded times reflected a full, 30-minute meal period. (9 AA 2403, ¶10.) For example, on January 8, 2013, Donohue punched in an actual meal period start at 11:02 a.m. and an actual meal period end at 11:25 a.m., meaning her actual meal period was only 23 minutes. (9 AA 2326, 2368–2369.) But, after rounding to the nearest ten-minute increment by Team Time, the meal period was altered to reflect an 11:00 a.m. start and an 11:30 a.m. end, showing an ostensibly compliant 30-minute meal period. (*Ibid.*) Because it only compensated employees based on rounded times, AMN neither paid Donohue the statutory penalty of an extra hour's pay for a noncompliant meal period, nor for the seven minutes she actually worked during her short meal period (*Ibid.*; 9 AA 2338–2339; 2341.)

A delayed meal period is an instance when an employee's *actual* punch times reflected that the start of a meal period was *after* five hours of work, but AMN's "rounded" times reflected that the employee clocked out for a meal period at five or fewer hours of work. (9 AA 2404, ¶15.) For example, on May 14, 2013, Donohue punched in for her *actual* workday at 8:27 a.m. and punched out for

an *actual* meal period at 1:31 p.m., meaning she began her meal period after an *actual* five hours and four minutes of work. (9 AA 2327, 2374–2375.) After rounding by Team Time, however, the workday start was altered to 8:30 a.m. and the meal period start to 1:30 p.m., showing she began her meal period at the end of exactly five hours of work. (*Ibid.*) Again, because it only compensated employees based on rounded times, AMN neither paid Donohue the statutory pay penalty for a non-compliant meal period, nor for the four extra minutes of work between the end of her fifth hour of work and the start of her late meal period. (*Ibid.*; 9 AA 2338–2339; 2341.)

D. Waiving Violations or Requesting Penalties

AMN allowed employees to either waive their right to a compliant meal period or request a meal period penalty of one extra hour's pay, but the *only* way to do so was through Team Time. (9 AA 2327, 2335–2336, 2351, 2353–2354.) Thus, if Team Time flagged a potential meal period violation, a "prompt" would issue on the employee's computer screen, making a portion of the screen "go red." (9 AA Vol. 2359–2361.) The employee could then only continue working by choosing one of the following options from a dropdown menu: (1) a timely, 30-minute meal period was provided, but skipped voluntarily; (2) a timely, 30-minute meal period was provided, but a shorter/later break was taken voluntarily; or (3) a

compliant meal period was not provided, thus automatically triggering the penalty of one extra hour's pay. (1 AA 245; 2 AA 314, \$\\$7.)

As designed, however, Team Time would *not* issue a prompt (or make the screen go red) based on the employee's actual punch times; instead, it would only do so by reviewing the rounded times. (9 AA 2365–2366.) Thus, if an employee got an actual short or delayed meal period, which Team Time rounded to show a compliant meal period that lasted a full 30 minutes or began at the end of the fifth hour of work, the system would not recognize a violation or issue the necessary automatic prompt. (9 AA 2327-2328, 2365-2366, 2403-2405; 11 AA 2912-2914.) Without the prompt and its accompanying dropdown menu, employees could neither opt to waive their right to a compliant meal period nor request a pay penalty for a short or delayed meal period. (9 AA 2327, 2335-2336, 2351, 2353-2354.) As a result, there was no record of Donohue notifying AMN that she had not been provided a compliant meal period or requesting a pay penalty. (8 AA 2164, ¶10.)

A final option for AMN employees was that they could contact supervisors if their punch times were inaccurate, for example, if they forgot to log in or out, or performed work while clocked out. (8 AA 2058, 2195, ¶8; 2 AA 276–305.) In such instances, supervisors could

unlock or "green out" timesheets to let employees manually adjust punch times. (*Ibid.*) Donohue and other employees did occasionally request to correct such omissions. (8 AA 2062–2065, 2141–2146; 5 AA 1288–7 AA 1899, ¶16, 17.) But, as Donohue testified, there was also an overriding office culture at AMN of working through break and meal periods without seeking manual adjustments, and simply checking the box at the end of pay periods to submit timecards as valid and get paid. (10 AA 2618–2619, 2623, 2626–2627, 2652.)¹

Notably, AMN stopped using Team Time while this suit was pending, switching to a timekeeping system that does *not* round employees' times, but uses actual punch times to calculate time worked, pay, and meal periods. (8 AA 2206, ¶¶3, 6; *id.* at 2165, ¶10.)

E. Meal Period Violations

Given its design flaw, Team Time ignored actual punch times and failed to flag short and delayed meal periods as potentially non-compliant. (9 AA 2365–2366.) But there was other evidence to confirm meal period violations. For example, Donohue repeatedly testified that "our lunches were really short because we had to be on the phones;" breaks were "highly frowned upon;" and "literally" no

¹ The trial court excluded these excerpts of Donohue's deposition and her declaration in full, but the Court of Appeal considered both after deeming them admissible. (*Donohue v. AMN Serv., LLC* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1068, 1091, 1103–1105 & fn. 30, 50.)

one took breaks given the "top down . . . pressure" to get back on the phone to recruit nurses and make AMN money. (10 AA 2619; *id*. At 2618, 2623.) She also recalled being "routinely discouraged from taking meal and rest breaks" and being "called back to my desk—over the intercom—on several occasions when attempting to take meal and rest breaks." (10 AA 2652; *id*. at 2626–2627.)

Likewise, only 30 of 39 of the current employees whose declarations AMN submitted actually testified "that they 'always' or 'usually' take uninterrupted lunches of at least 30 minutes" (1 AA 92:8–11: 2 AA 358–360, ¶¶3–6); in other words, nine employees admitted to not "always" or "usually" getting uninterrupted 30minute lunches. Further, plaintiff's expert, a statistics professor, confirmed from AMN's own verified time records the instances of short and delayed meal periods for which AMN employees were neither asked to, nor could, waive their right to a compliant meal period or request the resulting penalty pay. (9 AA 2403-2408.) These records showed that, over five years, there were approximately 40,110 short meal periods and 6,651 delayed meal periods. (9 AA 2404–2405, $\P12-17$.) Based solely on AMN's payroll records showing employees' current rates of pay, plaintiff's expert calculated that AMN owes the 500-member class no less than \$802,077.08 in meal period penalties. (9 AA 2405–2406, ¶18–24.)

Even AMN's expert, a labor economist and statistician, admitted that its rounded time records showed some meal periods that were "shorter than 30 minutes" and some that "began after the employee's fifth hour of work." (8 AA 2168, ¶23.) But he asserted that this was offset by the class being paid 85 more hours based on their rounded, and not their actual, punch-in and punch-out times. (10 AA 2751–2752, 2756–2757 ¶¶7, 9, 25–26.) Based on this, he opined that the rounding was "facially and mathematically neutral" as applied to meal periods. (10 AA 2752, ¶11.) But, AMN's expert never factored in that employees' right to a one-hour pay penalty for each of the thousands of non-compliant meal periods would amount to much more than 85 extra hours of pay. (*Id.* at 2749–2757.)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Operative Complaint and Meal Period Claim

Donohue filed the underlying wage and hour class action and representative action against AMN on April 23, 2014. (13 AA 3534.) In her operative, second amended complaint, Donohue alleged violations of the California Labor Code on her behalf and on behalf of a proposed class and representative group of AMN's current and former non-exempt nurse recruiters in California. (1 AA 8–12, ¶¶11, 12, 14–21.) Among other claims, Donohue alleged that AMN failed to

provide her and the putative class legally compliant meal periods or pay penalties for non-compliant meal periods. (1 AA 10–12, ¶¶16.c, 24–31.) Consistent with her notice letter under the Private Attorney General Act (PAGA), challenging AMN's "illegal rounding policy," Donohue alleged that its "time shaving" or "rounding" practices contributed to its failure to pay her and other employees their full compensation. (1 AA 10 14, ¶¶16.a; *id.* at 27–28, 35.)

B. Grant of Class Certification

On October 13, 2015, the trial court granted certification of a class of all California non-exempt former or current AMN nurse recruiters from April 23, 2010 onwards as to five of Donohue's six claims, including for failure to provide compliant meal periods.

(4 AA 1013–1019.) Because AMN phased out its Team Time system on April 26, 2015, while this suit was pending, that date marks the end of the five-year class period for plaintiff's meal period claim.

(7 AA 2206, ¶3; 8 AA 2206, ¶3 & 2164, ¶9; 9 AA 2403, ¶5.) There were approximately 550 or fewer members in the certified class for the meal period claim. (10 AA 2750–2751, ¶4.) The meal period claim that the trial court certified was as follows: Whether AMN's timekeeping system "alters the recorded meal periods and whether it fails to properly pay meal break penalties for shortened or delayed meal breaks." (4 AA 1016.) The trial court also determined that

AMN's defenses to the meal period claim, including "Rounding' policies," could be resolved on a class-wide basis. (4 AA 1018.)

C. Summary Judgment for AMN

Over a year later, AMN moved for summary judgment, and Donohue cross-moved for summary adjudication as to, among other issues, the meal period claim. (7 AA 1955; 9 AA 2277.) On November 28, 2016, after concurrent briefing and a hearing, the trial court denied Donohue summary adjudication and granted AMN summary judgment in full. (9 AA 3470–3475.) As to the meal period claim, the trial court rejected plaintiff's evidence that, for example, the class was not paid 2,631.583 hours due to short or delayed meal periods. (9 AA 2408, ¶33.) According to the trial court, the uncompensated hours were offset by instances when time rounding caused AMN to overpay employees for a few extra minutes when they were not actually working, but on a meal break. (13 AA 3472–3473.)

D. Appeal and Petition for Review

Donohue unsuccessfully moved for reconsideration, and, once the trial court entered judgment in AMN's favor, timely filed the underlying appeal in February 2017. (*Donohue v. AMN Servs., LLC* (2018) 241 Cal.Rptr.3d 111, 121.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in its entirety on November 21, 2018 (*ibid.*), and later

granted two amici's requests to publish the decision. ($Donohue\ v$. $AMN\ Servs.$, $LLC\ (2018)\ 29\ Cal.$ App.5th 117 ($Donohue\).$)

As to the meal period claim, the Court of Appeal disagreed that time rounding as applied to meal periods eviscerates the guarantee of a timely and full 30-minute meal break, holding that rounding is as permissible in the meal period arena as in the overtime arena if it is fair and neutral on its face and as applied. (Id. at pp. 1082-1086, 1088-1089.) It affirmed the determination that AMN's rounding policy was neutral, facially and as applied to meal period punches, because, in the long run, it did not result in a failure to compensate employees for all the time they actually worked. (Id. at pp. 1088-1091.) The Court of Appeal also rejected plaintiff's evidence that AMN had a presumptive policy or practice of denying meal periods based on its verified time records, which showed numerous instances of short or delayed meal periods. (Id. at p. 1086-1088.) It concluded instead that the rebuttable time-record presumption only applies at the class certification stage, not at the merits-based summary judgment stage. (*Id.* at pp. 1087–1088 & fn. 25.)

This Court granted Donohue's timely petition for review on March 27, 2019 on the two issues quoted in the Issues Presented Section—(1) whether rounding practices can apply to meal period

time punches and (2) whether the time-record presumption should apply at summary judgment or trial, not just at class certification.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Time Rounding Eviscerates Two Long-Standing Meal Period Guarantees, Improperly Authorizing Meal Breaks of Less Than Thirty Minutes and Delaying Their Start After the End of the Fifth Hour of Work

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