SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 15 2019

CASE NO. S253677

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT—OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

KENNEDY DONOHUE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

ν.

AMN SERVICES, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D071865

San Diego Superior Court, The Honorable Joel Pressman, Judge (Ret.)
Case No. 37-2014-00012605-CU-OE-CTL

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARY DOLLARHIDE (SB No. 138441)
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
4365 Executive Drive, Suite 1100
San Diego, CA 92121
Telephone: (858) 677-1400
Facsimile: (858) 677-1401
mary.dollarhide@us.dlapiper.com

BETSEY BOUTELLE (SB No. 299754)

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

ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiff Erroneously Conflates the Issue of Time Rounding—A Recognized, Lawful Employment Practice—with Meal Period Violations.

As a threshold matter, the court of appeal noted in its decision that Plaintiff never raised her meal period-rounding claim in the complaint. Donohue v. AMN Serv., LLC, 29 Cal. App. 5th 1068, 1086 (2018). That omission alone provided a sufficient basis for the trial court's rejection of the claim, and thus for an affirmance. Heritage Marketing and Insurance Services, Inc. v. Chrustawka, 160 Cal. App. 4th 754, 764 (2008) ("The pleadings frame the issues on a motion for summary adjudication and a party cannot successfully resist such a motion based on allegations that are not contained in the complaint."). As shown below, the claim also fails on the merits.

A. Plaintiff Wrongly Criticizes the Court of Appeal for "Importing" Rounding Standards into the Meal Period Arena.

Plaintiff's Opening Brief spends much time expounding on the distinctions between an employee's entitlement to compensation for all hours worked on the one hand, and his or her entitlement to be relieved of duty for a non-working meal period on the other. AMN agrees that these are distinct rights. That is why AMN has repeatedly argued that the relevant inquiry on Plaintiff's claim for penalties under Section 226.7 is not

whether the Recruiters' time punches were rounded, but whether AMN maintained a lawful meal period policy and actually provided the Recruiters the opportunity to take their meal periods. 3 AA 571-74 (AMN's opposition to Plaintiff's motion for class certification, discussing Plaintiff's meal period claim); 8 AA 1982-87 (AMN's motion for summary judgment, discussing same); 10 AA 2690-99 (AMN's opposition to Plaintiff's motion for summary adjudication, discussing same); 11 AA 2990-92 (AMN's reply in support of its motion for summary judgment, discussing same).

It was Plaintiff who, at summary adjudication, attempted to use the rounding of meal period punches to cobble together a hybridized cause of action by which she purported to seek allegedly unpaid compensation via the summary adjudication of her meal period claim. 9 AA 2278 (Plaintiff's "Noticed Issue One: Violation of Meal Period Laws ('Short'/'Delayed' Meal Periods, No Compensation)"). Specifically, Plaintiff argued that the See's Candy neutrality analysis should not apply to the punches surrounding a meal period and that she could therefore claim unpaid wages for each and every minute of compensable work time that an employee "lost" as a result of the rounding of meal period punches—without having to offset those losses from minutes that the employee gained when the rounding of those punches benefitted an employee. Indeed, the expert declaration on which Plaintiff relies purported to aggregate not only the number of meal periods Plaintiff claimed penalty payments for, but also the number of hours of lost compensation that she alleged resulted from the rounding of meal period punches. 9 AA 2406-08.7 The court of appeal

⁷ Plaintiff's brief on her motion for summary adjudication sought 2,631.583

[&]quot;lost" "hours of recorded time that occurred as a result of 'short' and

^{&#}x27;delayed' meal periods." 9 AA 2295. In response, AMN submitted a

rejected such evidence. See Donohue, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1085 (finding that trial court correctly ruled that Plaintiff created no triable issue because her expert "only considered the recruiters' uncompensated time as a result of 'Short Lunches' and 'Delayed Lunches." He did not "consider evidence that Plaintiffs may have gained (and, in fact, did gain) compensable work time by the rounding policy." (Internal quotations omitted).

Conspicuously, Plaintiff's Opening Brief now makes no mention of this hybrid theory of liability. The court of appeal nevertheless had to confront Plaintiff's argument that the adjudication of her meal period cause of action also entitled her to "lost" wages. In addressing that claim, the court of appeal held that there was no reason to treat meal period punches separately from all other punches under *See's Candy* for purposes of a claim of lost compensation. Even if the meal period punches were examined in isolation, AMN's rounding system was mathematically neutral and in fact overcompensated the Recruiters for the time they actually worked. 10 AA 2751 ¶¶ 7-18.

On appeal to this Court, Plaintiff seems to have abandoned this half of her meal period claim—lost wages attributable to rounding—which the evidence could not support anyway. Instead, she quotes selectively from the arguments that AMN and the court of appeal made to refute that

declaration from its expert demonstrating that when the hours that class members allegedly "lost" from the rounding of meal period punches alone were offset by the instances where class members gained from the rounding of their meal periods, then the class actually was overcompensated by approximately 85 hours with respect to those punches alone. 10 AA 2751 ¶¶ 7, 17. Later, in her first brief to the intermediate appellate court, Plaintiff addressed her "lost meal period wages" claim in the apparent context of her overtime cause of action, and re-dubbed it her "Failure to Pay Employees for All Time Worked" claim. Brief of Appellant at 48-54.

particular theory. E.g., Op. Br. at 12, 36. She then cites these passages as evidence that the court of appeal failed to understand the "fundamentally different rationales behind overtime and meal period laws." Op. Br. at 31. But these rationales appear nowhere in the briefing Plaintiff submitted in opposition to AMN's motion for summary judgment as to her meal period claim. 3 AA 2436-40. The court of appeal's failure to anticipate theories and arguments that Plaintiff never put before it provide no basis for reversal. In any case, the meal period theory she presses in this appeal is unsound as a matter of both law and undisputed fact.

B. <u>Plaintiff Provides No Legal Authority for the Proposition</u> That Time Punches Surrounding a Meal Period Cannot Be Rounded.

Plaintiff's entire appeal is based on the false premise that rounding was used to avoid meal period penalties.⁸ In her Petition, Plaintiff argued that "[u]ntil now, there has been a bright-line rule regarding two meal period guarantees — (i) employers must provide employees with meal periods of 'not less than 30 minutes' . . . and (ii) meal periods must start

⁸ Plaintiff seems to quarrel with that portion of the court of appeal's opinion which states: "We reject Donohue's suggestion that the court blindly apply Section 512, subdivision (a), and title 8, section 11040, subdivision 11(A) [meal period laws], without consideration of rounding" Donohue, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1087. But reading further on, it is apparent that this statement is not the entirety of the court's rationale for its finding that no meal period violations were proved. In particular, the court of appeal found that Plaintiff failed to respond "to the undisputed evidence that AMN had in place an effective complaint procedure for an employee to inform the employer of any potential violation, but Donohue failed to inform AMN of any such violation." Id. at 1091. The court also cited to the weekly certifications Donohue and the class members submitted with each timesheet, which read: "I was provided the opportunity to take all meal breaks to which I was entitled, or, if not, I have reported on this timesheet that I was not provided the opportunity to take all such meal breaks." Id. (emphasis in decision).

'no later than the end of an employee's fifth hour of work[.]" Petition at 10, citing *Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1041 (emphasis in original). She further suggests that "the Court of Appeal erred by failing to interpret the meal period statutes and wage orders as plainly written, and by reading in an unstated rounding exception to an employee's entitlement to a 30-minute meal period no later than the end of five hours of work." Op. Br. at 20.9

Contrary to Plaintiff's argument, the court of appeal correctly held that rounding could be applied to meal period time punches to calculate the total time worked for purposes of wage compensation. Meanwhile, the other undisputed evidence in the record—wholly independent of the use of rounding-supports the judgment on the claim of meal period violations. For one thing, there is nothing in the "plain language" of the meal period statutes or wage orders that prohibits the use of rounding to record the times that an employee punches out and in for a meal period—as long as the employee is actually provided the opportunity to take a timely and uninterrupted 30-minute meal period. For that reason, in reviewing the parties' competing cross-motions for summary adjudication, the court of appeal found that "there is no basis on which to deny application of AMN's California-compliant rounding policy to a recruiter's meal period." Donohue, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1089. Indeed, Donohue is not the first court of appeal decision to uphold a rounding system under See's Candy while acknowledging that the system rounded the start- and stop-times of meal

⁹ The "bright-line" rule is actually not so bright line. Labor Code Section 512(a) specifically allows those who work no more than six hours to waive their right to a meal period; Section 512(b)(1) authorizes the Industrial Welfare Commission to permit meal periods after six hours of work if consistent with the welfare of the workers. In any event, the rounding of time has no bearing on the provision of timely meal periods under the Labor Code.

periods. In AHMC Healthcare, Inc. v. Superior Court., the court of appeal applied See's Candy in a published decision to uphold a rounding system where "meal breaks that last between 23 and 37 minutes are rounded to 30 minutes," and held that the system was fair and neutral because it "rounds all employee time punches to the nearest quarter-hour without an eye towards whether the employer or the employee is benefitting from the rounding." 24 Cal. App. 5th 1014, 1018, 1022 (2018), review denied (Oct. 10, 2018). AHMC was cited in the Donohue decision; Plaintiff does not mention it in her Opening Brief. Donohue, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1083.

In any case, as argued below, there is nothing at all to suggest that time rounding as authorized in *See's Candy* contains an unstated exception for the time punches surrounding a meal period. In fact, such an exception would undermine the rule altogether, making rounding all but impossible as certain punches at certain times of day could be rounded, while others could not. *Cf. Corbin v. Time Warner Entm't-Advance/Newhouse P'ship*, 821 F.3d 1069, 1077 (9th Cir. 2016) (rejecting a rounding rule proposed by plaintiff that "if accepted, would undercut the purpose and would gut the effectiveness of a rounding policy").

C. There Is No Evidence That Rounding Ever Interfered with Any Employee's Entitlement to a Meal Period.

The court of appeal in *Donohue* ruled that no meal period violation occurred where the employer provided workers with the opportunity to take a compliant meal period at a time of their choosing, and employees made no report of a missed meal. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1091-92 ("AMN has a complete defense to Donohue's claim of meal period violations," citing the Company's undisputed evidence that it "had in place an effective complaint procedure for an employee to inform the employer of any

potential violation, but Donohue failed to inform AMN of any such violation.").

As stated by the superior court, "[t]he relevant AMN policies allow for meal and rest periods exactly as provided in Labor Code Section 226.7 and 512, and IWC Wage Order No. 4 Nor is there a uniform practice that is tantamount to a policy denying meal breaks." Superior Court Minute Order, 13 AA 3472. That court also correctly observed, "Don[o]hue, the class representative[,] was unable to identify a single occasion when she was denied a compliant meal period. . . .

Q. Did any supervisor ever say you can't take a meal period today?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Did anybody ever tell you that you had to cut a meal period short so that it was less than thirty minutes?

A. No."

Superior Court Minute Order, 13 AA 3473 (citations omitted). Plaintiff's testimony is consistent with the sworn statements of 30 out of 39 Nurse Recruiters who reported that they 'always' or 'usually' take uninterrupted lunches of at least 30 minutes on workdays at AMN. None said that a supervisor had ever tried to prevent them from taking a meal period. 11 AA 2991.

Further, Plaintiff certified each pay period on her timesheet that:

"I was provided the opportunity to take all meal breaks to which I was entitled, or, if not, I have reported on this timesheet that I was not provided the opportunity to take all such meal breaks[.]"

Donohue, 29 Cal App. 5th at 1091 (emphasis in decision). Plaintiff now suggests that this certification improperly "shifts the burden" onto

employees to self-report any denial of their meal periods and rest breaks.

Op. Br. at 33. But Plaintiff has provided no evidence or testimony that such a practice imposes a "burden" at all. On the contrary, as shown above, Plaintiff routinely *requested* to manually self-report entire weeks' worth of compensable time on her timesheet after the fact, including overtime. In other words, Plaintiff expected AMN to take her word for it, no questions asked, when she freely self-reported the hours she claimed to have worked on her timesheet after forgetting to clock in or out for days or weeks at a time. But she now suggests that it was unreasonable for AMN to believe her when she used the same timesheet to inform the Company that she had in fact had the opportunity to take all her meal periods.

In the end, AMN fully complied with the Labor Code, the wage orders, and this Court's teachings in *Brinker*. The court of appeal thus ruled that there was no violation of California's meal period law, and that rounded punch times "do not establish (or imply) non-compliant meal periods for which Donohue did not receive an appropriate penalty payment." *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1091; *see also Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1040 (holding that employers must provide, not ensure, meal periods). There is no legal error in this ruling.

Plaintiff's brief also incorrectly suggests that the decision below somehow endorsed the notion that the gain of a few minutes of time on some meal breaks as a result of rounding supplanted the need for a penalty where an employee may actually have been denied a full and timely meal period. See Op. Br. at 24, 32-34. The court of appeal asserted no such "new judicial remedy" as asserted by Plaintiff. Petition at 24. Nor did the superior court apply any de minimis time analysis. Op. Br. at 29. The court of appeal instead held that no penalty was owed absent a violation, and that

in this case, Plaintiff failed to create a triable factual issue that any violation had occurred. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1087 (rejecting Plaintiff's argument that "any meal period of less than 30 actual minutes is a per se violation of law") and 1092 (finding that AMN had "a complete defense to Donohue's claim of meal period violations").

The court of appeal's judgment does not depend on Plaintiff's straw-man argument that rounding of time worked eliminates the Labor Code requirement for an employer to provide meal periods consistent with the strict mandates of California law. Rather, the judgment is fully supported by the facts that (a) rounding for purposes of determining compensable time is lawful when an employee is paid for all time worked and (b) on the undisputed facts, including admissions by the Plaintiff, no meal period violations occurred for which premiums were not paid.

And contrary to Plaintiff's assertions—which rely on no record evidence—no one in *Donohue* ever suggested that meal time be averaged out across workdays to achieve compliance with California Labor Code. Op. Br. at 35, 36. That is a phantom argument that makes no appearance in the trial court or appellate records. Rather, as demonstrated above, record evidence showed that across a five-year period, workers overall benefited from rounding with respect to *payment for time worked*. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1084 (citing to AMN's expert analysis showing that over a five-year period, "rounding punch times to the nearest 10-minute increment resulted over in 'a *net surplus* of 1,929 work hours in paid time for the Nurse Recruiter class as a whole"). Separately, the evidence showed that the company's policies and practices were fully compliant with California law, and that meal premiums were regularly paid—including to Plaintiff—where appropriate. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1073 n. 4; 8 AA 2168 at

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